FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/15/2019 3:11 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

97771-2

Court of Appeals No. 50850-8-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PAYTON O. HOFF,

Movant,

v.

SAFECO INSURANCE CO. OF ILLINOIS,

Respondent.

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW for Review

Attorney for Movant Payton O. Hoff

Duane C. Crandall, WSB #10751 CRANDALL, O'NEILL & STYVE, P.S. 1447 Third Ave., Ste. A PO Box 336 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 425-4470 Facsimile: (360) 425-4477 dcrandall@longviewlaw.com

C.	Issues Presented for Review
D.	Statement of the Case
E.	Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted7-12
F.	Conclusion
G.	Affirmation of Service

INDEX OF APPENDIX

Appendix A

Court of Appeals of the State of Washington Division II, *Hoff v. Safeco*, Case No. 50850-8-II, Published Opinion filed on September 24, 2019

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Barry v. USAA, 98 Wash.App. 199, (1999)
Cedell v. Farmers, 176 Wn.2d 686 (2013)
Ellwein v. Hartford, 142 Wn.2d 766, 780-81 (2001) overruled on other grounds, Smith v. Safeco, 150 Wn.2d okay478 (2003)8
Hoff v. Safeco Insurance Co. of Illinois, No. 50850-8-II1,8,9,10,11,12
Leahy v. State Farm, 2018 WL 229630111
Richardson v. GEICO, 200 Wash.App. 705 (2017)8,9,10,11
RULES
RAP 13.4(b)(1)

A. IDENTIFY OF MOVANT

Payton Hoff asks this Court to accept review of the published decision designated in Part B of this motion pursuant to RAP 13.5.

B. DECISION

Payton O. Hoff v. Safeco Insurance Co. of Illinois, No. 50850-8-11; Unpublished Opinion 05-29-2019, Order Publishing Opinion 09-24-2019.

Movant seeks review of each and every part of the published decision of the Court of Appeals reversing the Cowlitz County Superior Court order requiring respondent Safeco to produce discovery material for an *in camera* inspection. A copy of the Court of Appeals published decision is attached as Appendix A.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where the Movant repeatedly and unequivocally stated on the record that she would not seek nor accept more than \$75,000 in order to prevent transfer to Federal District Court on her Uninsured/Underinsured Motorist (UIM) claim, and the Respondent nonetheless unsuccessfully sought removal to district court, did the Court of Appeals err when it ruled evidence of the above was insufficient to meet the threshold for the state trial court's in camera inspection of discovery documents regarding reasons

for the removal?

- 2. When a UIM insurer offers its insured 10% of its own internal valuation and then attempts to leverage acceptance by unethical, bad faith removal to federal court in order to exploit the insured's logistical problems producing her Cowlitz County witnesses in Tacoma and then attempts to limit movant's ability to present evidence of damages, did the Court of Appeals err in characterizing the above as a "legitimate strategy"?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals err when it ruled that unethical, bad faith post-litigation strategy by a UIM insurer is never subject to a trial court's *in camera* review, and effectively ruling that a UIM insurer's duty of good faith terminates upon litigation?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A horrendous collision occurred on May 14, 2011 wherein movant Payton Hoff, still in high school, was a passenger in a Suburban struck head-on by a drunk driver. CP 1. She suffered injuries. *Id.* The offending driver died at the scene; he was the father of one of Payton's classmates. *Id.* Ms. Hoff accepted the deceased driver's policy limits of \$25,000 and then made claim for PIP and UIM benefits from defendant

Safeco. CP 24, pp. 338-348. Over five years later, mid-May 2015, Safeco was offering what later turned out to be about 10% of its own internal valuation of the claim's worth. CP 32, p. 1266.

Believing this to be an unreasonably low offer, Movant filed suit on November 10, 2016 (CP 1) and Safeco served upon petitioner both Requests for Admission and Interrogatories. Each was answered unequivocally, limiting Ms. Hoff's desired recovery to \$75,000. CP 38, pp. 1288-1295, 1292-1299. By letter of January 23, 2017 Movant again limited her claim to \$75,000 expressly to avoid removal to federal court. Her attorney offered to draft a CR 2A stipulation and explained that Ms. Hoff did not want to try the matter in federal court in Tacoma because it would prejudice her ability to call witnesses, both lay and expert, from Cowlitz County. CP 38, pp. 1300-1302. This was again confirmed by letter of January 23, 2017. CP 38, Exh. D.

On February 6, 2017 Safeco proposed a 2-paragraph CR 2A stipulation. CP 38, pp. 1303-1305. Ms. Hoff agreed by letter of February 7, 2017 to paragraph 1 wherein she limited her sum total of monetary relief to \$75,000 but was disinclined to agree to paragraph 2 which insisted on an Order in Limine that would, in effect, limit the evidence she presented to the jury. Instead, she suggested:

"2. However, admissible evidence that a trier of fact may consider is not subject to an order in limine. In the event a trier of fact values Plaintiff's claim at more than \$75,000, Plaintiff and Safeco agree no money judgment may exceed \$75,000." CP 38, pp. 1306-1307.

By letter of February 8, 2017 Safeco rebuffed Movant's proposed paragraph 2 and insisted that the Safeco CR 2A of February 6, 2017 be signed conflating a "claim" for damages with simply the presentation of evidence allowing a jury to decide the value. Absent Safeco's signed CR 2A, removal to federal court was promised. CP 38, pp. 1308-1309.

The same day, Ms. Hoff's attorney responded reminding Safeco that Ms. Hoff's evidence could well engender a higher value but she would request \$75,000 and even if the jury placed a higher value, "...she will not seek more, nor accept more, than a judgment for \$75,000."

"It is difficult to reconcile your statement that Ms. Hoff seeks relief in an amount greater than \$75,000 when she has categorically and repeatedly, in writing, limited her recovery to \$75,000." CP 38, pp. 1310-1312.

Eight days later, on February 13, 2017, Safeco responded by claiming that refusing to accept more than \$75,000 yet presenting evidence that could be valued by a jury at more than \$75,000 were two concepts that simply could not be reconciled. "It is not enough that she will not 'recover' more than \$75,000 from Safeco." Thus placing Ms. Hoff in the unenviable position of having to guess which bit of evidence she should withhold from

the jury in order to slide under the \$75,000 mark. CP 38, pp. 1313-1317.

On February 15, 2017 Safeco removed this matter to federal court when Ms. Hoff refused to capitulate to a wholly improper limitation on her own evidence. Movant moved for remand to state court which was granted. CP 37, pp. 1-4.

District Court Judge Leighton's Order on Motion to Remand:

"Furthermore, while Safeco's proposed stipulation properly sought to limit both the amount Hoff could seek and recover, Hoff correctly claims that Safeco also sought to limit the evidence of general damages that she could offer. This is more than a plaintiff is required to concede in order to avoid removal. And it is not practical. As Hoff argues, there is a difference between limiting evidence of medical specials that total more than the limit (which would clearly be "seeking more"), and limiting testimony about general damages (pain, distress, and the like). How would an order limiting the latter be enforced? Is the plaintiff prohibited from crying on the stand? Can she use words like "devastating," or is she limited to "it's been pretty hard"?

Hoff's unilateral act is sufficient to deny this court jurisdiction. It does limit her recovery to less than \$75,000, and it does prohibit her from seeking---from asking the jury for---more. But Safeco's claim that "capping" the amount in controversy requires the plaintiff to "pull her punches" or decline to submit evidence of her general damages is a bridge to [sic] far."

CP 32, pp. 1248-1253.

Back in state court Ms. Hoff served discovery requests on Safeco seeking every reason Safeco had for removal. Safeco repeatedly refused to answer and upon Ms. Hoff's motion to compel heard August 16, 2017, Judge Warning ordered production of the privileged documents for *in camera* review.

Judge Warning's Verbatim Report of Proceedings dated 08-16-2017 wherein he discussed Judge Leighton's ruling:

"But what he did clearly say is that it's clear from everything that went on, the Plaintiff was limiting her claim to avoid those jurisdictional limits. The fact that in light of that, without any other explanation, uh, the attempt to remove is made leaves open issues of how come. And those can run the gamut. And I'm not going to speculate on what they are. But I certainly think that it's an area that Counsel's entitled to inquire into.

Obviously, we're running into litigation strategy, attorney-client privilege, attorney work product. So it's something of a minefield. But my instruction is to answer the interrogatory, create a privilege log, submit anything that's in the privilege log for in camera review, and where it goes from there, we'll decide."

CP 32, pp. 1248-1253.

Upon Safeco's motion for reconsideration, the trial court entered an order on September 11, 2017:

"The written decision of the federal court dismissing the federal filing, and the reasons given for that dismissal, give rise to a factual showing sufficient a reasonable belief of wrongful conduct sufficient to amount to fraud. In response Safeco has offered no legitimate reason whatsoever for the removal of this case to federal court. Therefore the motion for reconsideration is denied."

CP 63, p. 850.

That the documents being protected contain damning evidence of bad faith seems fairly certain. Contained in Safeco's Motion for Discretionary Review:

"Once the Superior Court reviews the privileged and protected information, the status quo can never be restored. Moreover, the same judge who will be presiding over the trial will have information regarding Safeco's litigation strategy -- information which should have no bearing on the case. The only way to prevent irreversible damage to Safeco's defenses is for this Court to accept review now, before the proverbial bell is rung."

Safeco's Motion for Discretionary Review, page 16.

"Indeed, based upon the superior court's rulings to date, it is very likely the review will result in an order requiring Safeco to produce the protected information to Plaintiff, which would further damage Safeco's rights beyond the possibility of repair."

Safeco's Motion for Discretionary Review, page 17.

Safeco sought discretionary review on the basis that the trial court could not see the Safeco documents *in camera*. Review was granted, Safeco prevailed, and this petition follows.

E ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This case presents this court with two separate bases for review: (1) under RAP 13.4(b)(1), the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with decisions of this court holding that a trial court has authority to review, ex parte, material in litigation before it (e.g. "unethical actions"); and (2) under RAP 13.4(b)(4), this case presents a question of substantial public interest that should be determined by this court. Specifically, as to the latter argument, this case presents this court with the opportunity to effectively define the limits an insurance company has when litigating UIM cases against the company's own insured clients. The following sets out these two arguments.

(1) Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case conflicts with this court's decision in *Cedell v. Farmers*, 176 Wn.2d 686 (2013) and with Division III in *Barry v. USAA*, 98 Wash.App. 199, 207 (1999).

The duty of good faith does not simply disappear upon UIM litigation; the insurer must deal fairly and not overreach the insured despite the adversary relationship. *Ellwein v. Hartford*, 142 Wn.2d 766, 780-81 (2001) overruled on other grounds, *Smith v. Safeco*, 150 Wn.2d 478 (2003).

The Court of Appeals Divison II decisions in *Hoff* and *Richardson* v. *GEICO*, 200 Wash.App. 705 (2017) confers an absolute immunity on UIM carriers post litigation and is at odds with *Cedell v. Farmers*, 176 Wn.2d 686 (2013) where this Court reversed Division II for requiring a

nine element showing of fraud before an *in camera* review could take place. The test as explained in *Cedell* is also consistent with prior law, *Barry v. USAA*, 98 Wash.App. 199, 207 (1999), and is simply whether a reasonable person would have a reasonable belief that the insurer acted in bad faith. Presumably Judge Warning is a reasonable person.

Removal to federal court when the jurisdictional threshold had not been met and, once there, attempt to limit Ms. Hoff's evidence with no justifiable basis in law, all the while attempting to force her acceptance of a low ball offer, would appear to meet the *Cedell/Barry* test for *in camera* review. Instead, the court of appeals held that there was NO evidence to support a reasonable good faith belief that Safeco's removal was other than a "legitimate trial strategy." App. A, p. 14. Divison II appears determined to make the threshold much higher.

(2) The Court of Appeals citing to *Richardson* explained, "We reasoned that litigation strategy decisions generally have 'little bearing on whether the insurance companies earlier claim processing occurred in bad faith'." App. A, p. 12. Further, that since the alleged bad faith took place in *Richardson* pre-litigation, post-litigation scheming was irrelevant. But the issue in *Richardson* was alleged bad faith before suit was filed. Ms. Hoff alleged bad faith both before and after litigation commenced. The *Richardson* court never reached the reasonable person/reasonable belief

test explained in *Cedell* because it flatly decided "...information and documents created during litigation were not discoverable...". App. A, p. 13.

While both the federal court and the state trial court found no ambiguity in Ms. Hoff's oft repeated \$75,000 limit statements, nor her unequivocal response that she would neither seek nor accept a judgment of more than \$75,000 (App. A, p. 5), the Court of Appeals wrote that Hoff "had been inconsistent in her statements about whether she planned to ask the jury for more". App. A, p. 15.

The Court of Appeals gave two reasons for prohibiting the trial court from conducting an *in camera* inspection of Safeco documents:

- 1) The Safeco documents were generated after litigation commenced and were shielded by both attorney-client and work product privileges.
- There was simply NO evidence that Safeco could have been acting in bad faith.

The first reason is not supported by *Cedell v. Farmers*, one of the cases relied upon by the Court of Appeals both in the *Richardson* and *Hoff* cases. *Cedell* never addressed pre- versus post-litigation discovery. Indeed, the words "pre- and post-" litigation do not appear in the decision anywhere. If allowed to stand, *Hoff* would allow no recourse for bad faith

conduct, post-litigation, particularly where a trial judge is prohibited from his or her own inspection. The duty of good faith and fair dealing does not cease upon filing suit.

Safeco's appeal was to keep the trial court from an *in camera* inspection of the Safeco documents but the Court of Appeals expanded the issue into one of discoverability, citing *Richardson* and *Leahy v. State Farm*, 2018 WL 2296301, where the trial courts in each had already conducted *in camera* inspections. Petitioner alleges that Safeco has actively engaged in bad faith both before and after the commencement of litigation so post-litigation scheming would certainly be relevant.

The second reason for prohibiting the *in camera* inspection was the absolute lack of any suspicion Safeco may have engaged in bad faith litigation.

(2) Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), this case presents this court with the opportunity to effectively define the limits an insurance company must respect when litigating UIM cases against the company's own insured clients, which is a matter of significant public interest that should be determined by this court.

The Court of Appeals (App. A, p. 14) relented and conceded that *Cedell* actually does provide a procedure for UIM insureds to pierce the privilege by using the reasonable person/reasonable belief standard for

review but held the proof provided by Ms. Hoff was not merely deficient but "that the record is devoid of *any* evidence to support a reasonable good faith belief that Safeco's removal to federal court was not a legitimate, if unsuccessful strategy." App. A, p. 14. (emphasis added) The *Hoff* opinion lets insurance defense counsel know that delaying resolution, running up costs, overreaching, all to leverage offers of 10% of the internal valuation are "legitimate" strategies without consequence. This published opinion has set the bar so high that trial courts are effectively prohibited from *any* post-litigation *in camera* document inspections.

For the foregoing reasons, this court should accept review of this case under both RAP 13.4(b)(1) as well as RAP 13.4(b)(4).

E. CONCLUSION

Division II has created an artificial distinction between pre- and post-litigation good faith. For the reasons set out in this Petition, this Court should accept review of this case and reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals that post-litigation attorney-client and work product privileges are not reviewable by a trial court *in camera*, and that the trial court was correct that a reasonable person could form a reasonable belief that Safeco had engaged in bad faith.