FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/14/2019 11:09 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON NO. 977712

PAYTON O. HOFF, Movant,

v.

SAFECO INSURANCE COMPANY OF ILLINOIS, Respondent.

SAFECO INSURANCE COMPANY OF ILLINOIS'S ANSWER TO MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Court of Appeals No. 50850-8-II

John M. Silk, WSBA #15035 Christopher Pierce-Wright, WSBA #52815 WILSON SMITH COCHRAN DICKERSON 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, WA 98164 (206)623-4100 (206)623-9273 facsimile silk@wscd.com Pierce-Wright@wscd.com Attorneys for Respondent

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

V. ARGUMENT

This Court should decline to review the Court of Appeals' decision. The decision below follows directly from the lower court's decision in *Richardson* and this Court's decision in *Cedell*. Those cases make clear that for an insured to overcome her UIM insurer's attorney-client privilege under the civil fraud exception, she must bring forward

evidence of fraud sufficient for a reasonable person to form a good faith belief that fraud occurred. Further, an insured may discover her UIM insurer's work product only by demonstrating a substantial need and inability to discover the relevant material and an inability to obtain the substantial equivalent without undue hardship. The Court of Appeals applied those well-established and uncontroverted principles to Hoff's claim. Because she does not identify how that holding contradicts *Cedell*, this Court should deny her petition.

A. Cedell and Related Cases Hold that UIM Insurers Are Entitled to Attorney-Client and Work Product Protections Absent an Insured's Showing to the Contrary

An insurer's ability to raise the attorney-client or work product privileges begins from the premise that insurers owe a quasi-fiduciary duty to their insured.³ *Cedell*, 176 Wn.2d at 698. This duty applies when an insurer is engaged in investigating, evaluating, or processing a claim. *Id.* at 699. Under these principles, during the claims handling process the attorney-client and work product privileges are irrelevant. *Id.* at 698. But an exception to this rule has long applied in the context of UIM claims,

-

³ When discussing the discovery to which an insured is entitled, decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals often discuss and analyze the attorney-client and work product doctrines simultaneously. *See*, *e.g.*, *Cedell*, 176 Wn.2d at 698-99 (discussing the purpose of both doctrines simultaneously); *Richardson*, 200 Wn. App. 705, at 716-17 (same). Nonetheless, it is clear that the two protections are distinct, require a unique analysis, and may both apply to the same documents. *See Cedell*, 176 Wn.2d at 699 n.6. Hoff's appeal addresses only the civil fraud exception to attorney-client privilege, not the separate question of Safeco's work product protection. *See* Petition at 10-11 (stating issue as whether Hoff has "recourse for bad faith conduct").

where the insurer "steps into the shoes of the tortfeasor" and is allowed to "defend as the tortfeasor would defend." *Id.* at 697. Washington's courts have therefore held that UIM insurers, even in bad faith cases, are entitled to attorney-client and work product protections unless the insured can overcome those protections.

1. A UIM Insurer's Attorney-Client Communications Are Protected Unless the Insured Shows the Insurer Was Engaged in Fraud at the Time

Washington's courts have recognized that an insured may overcome her insurer's attorney-client privilege by showing the insurer was engaged in fraud at the time of the communication. The first decision to apply this exception, Escalante v. Sentry Insurance, noted that the "civil fraud" exception was based on the idea that attorney-client communications should not be protected when they relate to an insurer's ongoing or future fraudulent conduct. 49 Wn. App. 375, 394, 743 P.2d 832 (1987), overruled on other grounds by Ellwein v. Hartford Accident & Indem. Co., 142 Wn.2d 766, 15 P.3d 640 (2001), overruled by Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co., 150 Wn.2d 478, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003). For the exception to apply, the insured must show a "foundation in fact" of bad faith sufficient to show civil fraud. *Id.* To do this, the court required a two-part showing. First, the insured must trigger an *in camera* review by making a factual showing sufficient to raise a good faith belief by a reasonable person that there occurred wrongful conduct sufficient to invoke the exception. *Id.* Second, if the insured makes the preliminary showing, the trial court can then review the relevant material to determine whether there is a foundation in fact for the fraud allegation. *Id.*

This standard continues in force today, basically unaltered. In *Barry v. USAA*, the court applied the same two-part test to an insured's request for communications made during the handling of her claim. 98 Wn. App. 199, 202, 989 P.2d 1172 (1999). In addition to the *Escalante* test, the court explained that to demonstrate fraud the insured must show both (1) that the insurer was engaged in or planning a fraud at the time of the communication and (2) that the communication furthered that activity. *Id.* at 206. The court also clarified that an insured must do more than merely raise a prima facie case of bad faith insurance or consumer protection violations. *Id.* at 206-07. Those allegations "do not, in and of themselves, constitute a good faith belief that [the insurer] committed fraud." *Id.* at 207. The court concluded that the insured had failed to show sufficient evidence of fraud to justify an *in camera* review.

This Court adopted the standards from *Escalante* and *Barry* in *Cedell*, again in response to a request for the insurer's claim file. *Cedell*, 176 Wn.2d at 690. Although the claim at issue in *Cedell* resulted from a house fire and not UIM coverage, this Court adopted the fraud exception as set out in *Escalante* and *Barry*. *Id.* at 690. This Court recognized that UIM insurers are entitled to the same advice in strategizing defenses as a

tortfeasor. *Id.* at 697. This Court agreed that an insured could overcome her UIM insurer's attorney-client privilege under the fraud exception by showing the insurer engaged in bad faith to defeat a meritorious insurance claim. *Id.* at 700. Under that test, the threshold question is still whether "a reasonable person would have a reasonable belief that an act of bad faith tantamount to civil fraud has occurred." *Cedell*, 176 Wn.2d at 700.

Escalante, Barry, and Cedell each considered discovery of information and materials created before litigation began. The court in Richardson applied these same principles to an insured's discovery UIM insurer's litigation file – documents, requests for her communications, and other information generated by the insurer's attorney after litigation began. 200 Wn. App. at 709 & n.3. distinguished Cedell, citing the difference between pre-litigation claims handling and post-litigation work product and communications. Id. at 715. The court concluded that allowing an insured to access privileged information created during litigation would violate "the purpose of the attorney-client privilege, the work product doctrine, and the purposes of discovery." Id. at 716-17. The litigation file was "irrelevant" to the insured's UIM bad faith claim, id. at 717, and had "little bearing" on a UIM claim denied months earlier. *Id.* at 720.

2. A UIM Insurer's Work Product Is Protected Unless the Insurer's Mental Impressions Are Directly at Issue and the Insured Shows a Substantial Need for the Discovery

In addition to the attorney-client privilege, materials can be simultaneously protected as work product. *Cedell*, 176 Wn.2d at 699 n.6. Under CR 26(b)(4), a party's materials prepared in anticipation of litigation are discoverable only if the requestor has substantial need in preparing its case and cannot obtain the substantial equivalent without undue hardship.

Although work product protection does not apply to materials relied on by an insurer in the course of determining the limits of UIM coverage, *Barry*, 98 Wn. App. at 208, after litigation begins the work product doctrine applies to the insurer's litigation file, including its attorneys' assessment of the case and trial strategy. *Richardson*, 200 Wn. App. at 717. Therefore, while materials in an insurer's pre-litigation claim file may be discoverable when created in the ordinary course of business, materials produced after litigation begins are not discoverable absent the insurer's ability to show substantial need. *Compare Barry*, 98 Wn. App. at 208 (requiring *in camera* review when insured requested discovery of pre-litigation claim file), *with Richardson*, 200 Wn. App. at 716-17 (rejecting discovery of litigation file where Plaintiff did not show how the

address the work product protection as applied to UIM insurers. *See Cedell*, 176 Wn.2d at 701.

B. Review Is Not Appropriate Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) Because The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Consistent with *Cedell*

Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) only when the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with a decision of this Court.⁴ There is no such conflict here. The Court of Appeals' correctly applied the standard from *Cedell*, reciting that Safeco's attorney-client communications are privileged unless Hoff could show factual support sufficient for reasonable person to form a good faith belief that Safeco's removal was fraudulent. *Hoff*, 449 P.3d at 675. The court concluded that Hoff failed to present any factual support for her claim of fraud. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals also correctly distinguished *Cedell*, which addressed only discovery of an insurer's pre-litigation claim file and not the grounds by which an insured could request litigation material. *Hoff*, 449 P.3d at 674. The court properly relied on *Richardson*, which held that litigation material is not discoverable unless the insured can show that the insurer's attorney-client communications and work product are relevant to the insured's bad faith claim. *Richardson*, 200 Wn. App. at 717. The

15

⁴ Hoff also briefly argues that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Barry*, which would be grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). *See* Petition at 8. Because *Cedell* and *Barry* apply materially identical standards, the same analysis pertains to each case.

Court of Appeals' decisions in *Richardson* and this case are a direct extension of *Cedell*.

Hoff has not identified how the decision below conflicts with *Cedell*. Instead, she relies solely on an uncorroborated claim that Safeco removed to leverage a favorable settlement. CP 484-85. But if Hoff's theory were correct, then any attempt by an insurer to defend itself would be evidence of fraud. Such a rule would unfairly impede insurers from defending against first party claims. *See Richardson*, 200 Wn. App. at 719 ("'Allowing litigation conduct to serve as evidence of bad faith would undermine an insurer's right to contest questionable claims and to defend itself against such claims.'" (quoting *Timberlake Const. Co. v. United State Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 71 F.3d 335, 341 (10th Cir. 1995)).

Hoff also argues that the Court of Appeals' decision "confers an absolute immunity" on UIM insurers' litigation conduct. Petition at 8.⁵ This is not a fair reading of the Court of Appeals' holding. The court recited the proper standard directly from *Cedell*, which requires the insured to make "'a factual showing adequate to support a good faith belief by a reasonable person that wrongful conduct sufficient to [in]voke the fraud exception as occurred.' " *Hoff*, 449 P.3d at 675 (quoting *Cedell*, 176 Wn.2d at 698) (alteration in original). Hoff could have met that

_

⁵ Hoff also attempts to re-litigate the *Richardson* decision, arguing that case was wrongly decided. *See*, *e.g.* Petition at 8. But this Court previously denied review in *Richardson*. *Richardson*, 190 Wn.2d 1008.

standard by presenting evidence to support a good faith belief that Safeco's removal was fraudulent. She presented no such evidence, relying instead on only the fact of removal itself. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Safeco's removal despite the parties' disagreement was not evidence of fraud. *Id*.

Finally, Hoff attempts to re-litigate the merits of her case, arguing that the Court of Appeals improperly based its decision on the fact that she sought material created during litigation. Hoff suggests that this holding is contrary to *Cedell* because that case never addressed the difference between pre- and post-litigation discovery, and that the Court of Appeals' decision would allow "no recourse for bad faith conduct, post-litigation." Petition at 10-11. Again, this is not a fair reading of *Cedell* or the Court of Appeals' decision in this case.

To begin with, the fact that *Cedell* did not address the distinction between pre-litigation and post-litigation material cuts against Hoff's position. As the Court of Appeals recognized here and in *Richardson*, material created during litigation is materially different from claims handling materials. *Hoff*, 449 P.3d at 674; *Richardson*, 200 Wn. App. at 715. This Court recognized as much in *Cedell*, stating that an insurer's quasi-fiduciary duty to its insured applies only during claims handling. *Cedell*, 176 Wn.2d at 699. The decision below cannot conflict with this

Court's decision in *Cedell* because the two cases addressed materially different issues.

Further, Hoff is incorrect that insureds are without recourse for bad faith litigation conduct. The civil rules provide an insured with other remedies, including motions to strike, compel discovery, and impose sanctions. *Richardson*, 200 Wn. App. at 720. Hoff was free to request those remedies, including by requesting sanctions in federal court if she felt the removal was improper. The district court did not award sanctions. *See* CP 642-46.

Hoff has not identified how the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Cedell*. Because the opinion below merely applies *Cedell* to new facts, this Court should deny Hoff's petition.

C. Review Is Not Appropriate Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) Because this Case Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) when a petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. This case does not meet that standard for the same reasons discussed above, specifically that the Court of Appeals' decision here and in *Richardson* are extensions of this Court's decision in *Cedell*. A department of this Court already recognized as much, when it denied review in *Richardson*. 190 Wn.2d 1008, 414 P.3d 575 (2018).

Hoff argues that this case presents an opportunity to "define the limits an insurance company must respect when litigating UIM cases."

Petition at 11. But Hoff is again attempting to argue the merits of her case, regarding whether Safeco made an unreasonably low settlement offer in the course of its claims handling. That is the subject of her bad faith claim, which the parties continue to litigate. The issue before this Court is whether Hoff can trigger an *in camera* review of Safeco's work product and attorney-client communications by citing only to Safeco's removal to federal court. Hoff makes no attempt to identify how that question presents an issue of sufficiently substantial public interest to justify review.

VI. CONCLUSION

In its decision below, the Court of Appeals properly applied the standard adopted by this Court in *Cedell*. Under that standard, an insured can discover her UIM insurer's attorney-client communications only when she presents sufficient evidence of civil fraud to raise a good faith belief by a reasonable person that wrongful conduct occurred. Because the Court of Appeals properly applied that rule and concluded that Hoff had presented no such evidence, this Court should deny Hoff's petition.